Beyond Noise:

Psychological Challenges in Terrorism Studies and the Solutions Offered by the Dynamic Threat Mitigation (DTM) Model

8/26/2025

Todd M. Price MBA, Ph.D.(f)

Paris Graduate School

Chair, Master's in International Security Studies

President, Global Counter-Terrorism Institute

"The DTM model is part of a broader research program under development at the Paris Graduate School and the Global Counter-Terrorism Institute."

Todd M Price

Author Biography

Todd M. Price, MBA, Ph.D.(f), is Chair of the Master's in International Security Studies at the Paris Graduate School and Co-Founder and President of the Global Counter-Terrorism Institute (GCTI). A retired U.S. Army veteran with over two decades of experience in counter-terrorism and international security, Price has served in leadership, operational, and academic roles that bridge the gap between theory and practice.

He is a **doctoral finalist in International Security Studies at the Paris Graduate School**, where his research focuses on the intersection of psychology, political instability, and violent extremism. His work culminated in the creation of the **Dynamic Threat Mitigation (DTM) Model**—a patent-pending analytic framework for predicting and mitigating terrorism and political violence. The DTM model integrates socio-economic, political, ideological, and psychosocial variables into a structured 100-point scoring system, offering scholars and practitioners a practical tool for risk assessment and prevention.

As an academic leader, Price has developed graduate-level programs in international security and cybersecurity, authored curriculum for global security education, and trained future leaders in threat analysis and counter-terrorism strategy. His work is published in academic outlets, presented in professional forums, and operationalized in partnership with international institutions.

Price combines his operational background with a deep commitment to advancing scholarship that is **predictive**, **practical**, **and preventive**. His goal is to move terrorism studies beyond definitional debates and toward evidence-based frameworks that save lives.

Contents

Author Biography	2
Chapter 1: Introduction	5
2. Literature Review: Five Persistent Challenges	7
2.1 Definitional Ambiguity in Terrorism Studies	7
2.2 Divergent Views on Terrorist Psychology	7
2.3 The Problem of Psychological Profiling	8
2.4 Neglect of Related Violent Actor Categories	8
2.5 Lack of Practical Diagnostic Tools	9
Section 2 Summary	9
References for Section 2	9
3. Methodology: The Dynamic Threat Mitigation (DTM) Model	10
3.1 Socio-Economic Status (SES)	11
3.2 Political Instability (PI)	11
3.3 Ideological Extremism (IE)	12
3.4 Social Disenfranchisement (SD)	12
3.5 Lack of Education (LE)	12
3.6 Psychosocial Factors (PF)	13
3.7 External Influence (EI)	13
3.8 Dynamic Weighting of Variables	13
3.9 Why the DTM Model Matters	14
References for Section 3	14
4. Case Studies and Comparative Analysis	14
4.1 The 9/11 Attacks (Al-Qaeda)	15
4.2 ISIS Recruitment (2014–2017)	15
4.3 Lone-Actor Terrorism (Breivik & Christchurch)	16
4.4 Insider Threat (Nidal Hasan, Fort Hood, 2009)	17
4.5 Comparative Table of DTM Case Scores	17
Section 4 Summary	17
5. Discussion: How the DTM Model Resolves the Five Core Challenges	18
5.1 Resolving Definitional Ambiguity	18

5.2 Bridging Divergent Views on Terrorist Psychology	19
5.3 Moving Beyond Profiling	19
5.4 Integrating Related Violent Actor Categories	19
5.5 Providing Practical Diagnostic Tools	20
Section 5 Summary	20
6. Policy and Research Implications	21
6.1 Government Policy Implications	21
6.2 Academic Research Implications	22
6.3 Practitioner and Field Implications	22
6.4 Ethical and Policy Safeguards	23
Section 6 Summary	24
7 Conclusion	24

Chapter 1: Introduction

In this opening chapter, I set the stage for the central problem in terrorism psychology: the persistence of unresolved debates that generate more noise than clarity. I explain why definitional ambiguity, disagreements about terrorist psychology, failed profiling attempts, the neglect of related violent actors, and the absence of practical diagnostic tools have kept the field fragmented. I also introduce the Dynamic Threat Mitigation (DTM) model as a new framework designed to cut through this noise by offering a structured, predictive, and operationally practical approach.

For more than two decades, I have studied terrorism not only as an academic subject but also as a lived challenge with direct implications for international security. As I reflect on the scholarship in terrorism psychology, I am struck by the persistent "noise" that has plagued the field. By noise, I mean the recurring disputes, definitional stalemates, and theoretical divisions that consume scholarly energy but yield little operational clarity. This noise has created a cycle in which debates overshadow solutions, leaving both scholars and practitioners without the diagnostic tools they need to anticipate and mitigate violent threats.

In my role as Chair of the Master's in International Security Studies at the Paris Graduate School and as co-founder of the Global Counter-Terrorism Institute, I confront this problem daily. Whether advising students, collaborating with practitioners, or developing training frameworks, I recognize how the absence of a unified psychological framework for terrorism hinders progress. Scholars continue to disagree about what terrorism is, what motivates terrorists, and whether profiling is possible. Each disagreement spawns further debate, but rarely does it lead to the development of usable analytic tools. As a result, policymakers and practitioners often lack evidence-based guidance when confronting ideologically motivated violence.

The stakes of these unresolved debates are high. Since 9/11, the global landscape has witnessed spectacular attacks such as the coordinated assaults in Paris (2015), Manchester (2017), and Christchurch (2019), as well as the rise of Islamic State recruitment networks, right-wing lone actors, and insider threats. However, despite an expanding body of literature, the psychological study of terrorism remains fragmented. Horgan (2008) has argued persuasively that there is no single terrorist profile and that we should instead study pathways into violence. Silke (2004) reminds us that terrorism research often fails to build cumulative knowledge, recycling old disputes rather than advancing new frameworks. Victoroff (2005) further highlights that even basic questions about whether terrorists are rational or pathological remain contested.

As I surveyed this body of work, I found that the field continues to circle five core challenges:

- 1. **Definitional ambiguity** a lack of consensus on whether terrorism includes only civilian targeting or also armed combatants (Schmid & Jongman, 1988).
- Divergent views on terrorist psychology disputes over whether terrorists are rational actors or psychologically disordered individuals (Crenshaw, 1981; Post, 1990; Victoroff, 2005).
- 3. **The problem of profiling** repeated attempts to identify a terrorist "personality" despite overwhelming evidence of heterogeneity (Horgan, 2008).

- 4. **Neglect of related violent actors** a narrow focus on terrorism that ignores insights from research on lone actors, active shooters, and insider threats (Gill, Horgan, & Deckert, 2014).
- 5. Lack of practical diagnostic tools the persistent gap between theory and operational needs (Borum, 2011).

These challenges are not simply intellectual curiosities. They affect how intelligence agencies allocate resources, how security professionals assess risk, and how policymakers frame counterterrorism strategies. Every time scholars recycle the same definitional disputes or revisit the rationality debate without moving forward, we lose valuable time in anticipating the next attack. The central question is this: **how do we stop the noise and provide actionable clarity?**

This article proposes that the **Dynamic Threat Mitigation (DTM) model** offers a structured solution. The DTM model represents years of research and development into a predictive framework that integrates socio-economic, political, ideological, and psychosocial variables into a single analytic formula. At its core, the model expresses terrorism risk as:

$$T = a(SES) + b(PI) + y(IE) + c(SD) + d(LE) + e(PF) + f(EI)$$

Here, terrorism is conceptualized as the interaction of multiple weighted variables: socio-economic status (SES), political instability (PI), ideological extremism (IE), social disenfranchisement (SD), lack of education (LE), psychosocial factors (PF), and external influence (EI). Rather than asking whether terrorists are rational or pathological, the model assesses how these variables interact within a specific context. Rather than seeking a single profile, it provides comparative scoring across violent actor categories. Moreover, rather than engaging in definitional disputes, it applies the same structured analytic framework to any form of targeted violence.

As I will demonstrate, this approach directly addresses the five challenges outlined above. It bypasses definitional ambiguity by focusing on indicators rather than semantics. It integrates divergent views on terrorist psychology by modeling both rational grievances and psychological vulnerabilities. It avoids the pitfalls of profiling by using dynamic situational scoring. It incorporates related violent actors into a continuum of analysis. It also provides practical diagnostic tools — including structured checklists, scoring mechanisms, and analytic tables — that practitioners can use in real-time.

This introduction sets the stage for the rest of the article. Section 2 provides an in-depth review of the five challenges, highlighting how they have shaped the literature. Section 3 outlines the methodology of the DTM model, including its formula and calibration process. Section 4 applies the model to case studies — including 9/11, ISIS recruitment, lone-actor terrorism, and insider threats — to show its explanatory power. Section 5 discusses how the model resolves long-standing debates. Finally, Section 6 explores the implications for policy, research, and practice.

My aim is not simply to critique existing scholarship, but to chart a way forward. As a scholar-practitioner, it is time to move beyond noise and toward structured, predictive analysis that bridges theory and practice. The DTM model provides that bridge.

2. Literature Review: Five Persistent Challenges

This chapter provides a detailed review of the five enduring challenges in the psychology of terrorism. I explore how definitional disputes, rational-versus-pathological debates, profiling failures, categorical silos, and the lack of diagnostic tools have shaped — and limited — our field. By presenting these challenges systematically, I show why previous approaches have failed and why a new model is needed. This review establishes the foundation for the DTM model.

2.1 Definitional Ambiguity in Terrorism Studies

When I teach terrorism studies, the first hurdle I face is definitional. What exactly is "terrorism"? After decades of debate, a consensus remains elusive. Schmid and Jongman's landmark survey of 109 definitions found recurring elements—political motivation, violence, and fear—but no unified standard¹. The United Nations has attempted to define resistance movements, but member states cannot agree on whether such movements or state violence should be considered legitimate. The United States, meanwhile, defines terrorism as premeditated violence against noncombatants for political purposes, while the European Union emphasizes the intimidation of populations³.

This lack of agreement has profound consequences. In psychology, definitions provide the boundaries for data collection, variable selection, and case comparison. If we cannot agree whether an insurgent ambush of soldiers is "terrorism" or "warfare," then our datasets diverge. One scholar may include combatant attacks; another may exclude them. The result is research that cannot be compared and conclusions that cannot be generalized.

This is where the field wastes energy. We recycle definitional arguments instead of focusing on the precursors of violence. I have seen how this slows down students, scholars, and practitioners alike. Definitional disputes create **noise** that obscures real signals.

2.2 Divergent Views on Terrorist Psychology

The second challenge is even more divisive: the psychology of terrorists. Are terrorists rational actors who strategically pursue political goals, or are they psychologically disordered individuals consumed by pathology? Crenshaw (1981) argued that terrorism is rational—violence is a calculated instrument for political objectives⁴. Post (1990), however, described "terrorist psychologic," suggesting that terrorists use ideology as a psychological justification for violence⁵. Victoroff's review found the literature polarized between rational-choice models and clinical-pathological accounts⁶.

In my own work, I see both dynamics. Groups like Al-Qaeda and ISIS plan with strategic precision, yet many lone actors display clear psychosocial disorders, isolation, or grievance-fueled paranoia. The rational versus pathological debate is, in truth, a false dichotomy. Terrorists

are neither wholly rational nor wholly disordered. Instead, they occupy a spectrum where political grievances and psychological vulnerabilities intersect.

This debate has persisted for decades without resolution. Scholars argue in circles, but practitioners are left without guidance. When a young man radicalizes online, law enforcement cannot afford to wait until the academy decides whether his motivation is "rational" or "pathological." Once again, we return to the problem of **noise**—debates substitute for actionable insight.

2.3 The Problem of Psychological Profiling

Perhaps the most damaging myth in terrorism psychology is the belief in a terrorist "profile." From the 1970s onward, agencies sought to identify a terrorist personality—specific traits that distinguish terrorists from non-terrorists. Decades of studies have failed to confirm such a profile. Horgan (2008) emphasizes that there is no single terrorist personality; instead, terrorism arises from pathways, processes, and contexts (Horgan, 2008). Silke (2004) similarly warns against the illusion of profiling, noting that research chasing a single profile is bound to fail⁸.

However, the profiling impulse persists. After 9/11, agencies searched for personality markers among the hijackers. None were found. Some were educated engineers, while others were disaffected youths. Breivik, the Norwegian lone actor, was articulate and educated, while other lone actors were socially isolated and maladjusted. If we seek a profile, we will always be disappointed.

As I often tell my students, there is no typical terrorist, only various terrorist trajectories. Profiling has become one of the most misleading and distracting aspects in this field. By clinging to the myth of a terrorist personality, we misallocate resources and overlook the situational dynamics that genuinely matter. Profiling is not just unhelpful—it is dangerous.

2.4 Neglect of Related Violent Actor Categories

The fourth challenge is the narrowness of the field of terrorism psychology. Too often, scholars study terrorists in isolation, as though they exist in a vacuum. However, research on lone-actor terrorists, active shooters, workplace attackers, and insider threats reveals clear overlaps. Gill, Horgan, and Deckert (2014) demonstrate that lone-actor terrorists often display "leakage behaviors" and grievance narratives similar to school shooters. Meloy and Gill (2016) likewise identify cross-domain indicators such as fixation, identification, and leakage.

In my own research, I see that terrorists share patterns with other targeted violence actors: social isolation, grievances, identity crises, and signaling behaviors. To ignore these overlaps is to discard an enormous body of comparative literature. Worse, it prevents us from developing prevention strategies that span multiple domains. Why should a school shooter with extremist

leanings be studied separately from a jihadist lone actor? Both emerge from a convergence of grievances, opportunities, and ideologies.

By segregating terrorism from related literatures, we create silos. Each silo builds theory, but none communicate. Once again, we end up with **noise**—parallel conversations without integration.

2.5 Lack of Practical Diagnostic Tools

Finally, the most consequential challenge is the lack of practical diagnostic instruments. Scholars debate definitions and theories, but practitioners need tools—structured analytic techniques, diagnostic checklists, and comparative scoring systems. Borum (2011) has emphasized the need for structured analytic frameworks for radicalization and violent extremism¹¹. However, few exist in a usable form for law enforcement, intelligence analysts, or policymakers.

This gap between theory and practice is glaring. Imagine an intelligence analyst tasked with evaluating whether an individual poses a risk to national security. The literature offers pathways, stages, and models, but lacks a scoring tool that translates academic insights into operational assessments. The analyst is left with intuition rather than a structured approach.

In my professional experience, this is unacceptable. Without structured tools, practitioners cannot move from theory to prevention. Without prevention, lives are lost. The need for diagnostic tools is not theoretical—it is existential.

Section 2 Summary

Across these five challenges, the pattern is clear. Terrorism psychology suffers from fragmentation, disputes, and unproductive cycles. We argue over definitions, rationality, profiles, categories, and methods, yet none of these debates consistently translates into actionable knowledge. Instead, we generate noise.

The next section of this article introduces the **Dynamic Threat Mitigation (DTM) model**, which I developed precisely to address these challenges. By integrating socio-economic, political, ideological, and psychosocial variables into a structured formula, the DTM model provides clarity where noise has reigned.

References for Section 2

1. Schmid, A. P., & Jongman, A. J. 1988. *Political Terrorism: A New Guide to Actors, Authors, Concepts, Databases, Theories, and Literature*. Amsterdam: North-Holland.

- 2. United Nations. 2006. *Unite Against Terrorism: Recommendations for a Global Counter- Terrorism Strategy*. New York: UN.
- 3. European Union. (2017). EU Terrorism Situation & Trend Report (TE-SAT). Europol.
- 4. Crenshaw, M. (1981). The causes of terrorism. Comparative Politics, 13(4), 379–399.
- 5. Post, J. M. (1990). Terrorist psycho-logic: Terrorist behavior as a product of psychological forces. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 32(1), 25–40.
- 6. Victoroff, J. (2005). The mind of the terrorist: A review and critique of psychological approaches. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 49(1), 3–42.
- 7. Horgan, J. (2008). From profiles to pathways and roots to routes: Perspectives from psychology on radicalization into terrorism. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 618(1), 80–94.
- 8. Silke, A. (2004). *Research on Terrorism: Trends, Achievements, and Failures*. Routledge.
- 9. Gill, P., Horgan, J., & Deckert, P. (2014). Bombing alone: Tracing the motivations and antecedent behaviors of lone-actor terrorists. *Journal of Forensic Sciences*, 59(2), 425–435.
- 10. Meloy, J. R., & Gill, P. (2016). The lone-actor terrorist and the TRAP-18. *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, 3(1), 37–52.
- 11. Borum, R. (2011). Radicalization into Violent Extremism: A Review of Social Science Theories. *Journal of Strategic Security*, 4(4), 7–36.

3. Methodology: The Dynamic Threat Mitigation (DTM) Model

Here, I will introduce the DTM model in full. I explain its formula, variables, and scoring system, including how each variable is measured on a 0–10 scale and normalized into a 100-point DTM Index. I also define the variables with scholarly support, demonstrate how weighting works in various contexts, and explain why the DTM Index provides a consistent and comparative framework. This chapter transforms theory into method.

When I designed the Dynamic Threat Mitigation (DTM) model, I aimed to cut through decades of unresolved debates in terrorism psychology and provide a structured, predictive system that both scholars and practitioners could utilize. The DTM is built on the recognition that terrorism does not emerge from a single cause but from the **interaction of multiple risk factors**.

The model expresses terrorism risk as a composite function:

$$T=a(SES)+b(PI)+y(IE)+c(SD)+d(LE)+e(PF)+f(EI)T = a(SES)+b(PI)+y(IE)+c(SD)+d(LE) + e(PF)+f(EI)T = a(SES)+b(PI)+y(IE)+c(SD)+d(LE)+e(PF)+f(EI)$$

Where:

- **SES** = Socio-Economic Status
- **PI** = Political Instability
- **IE** = Ideological Extremism

- SD = Social Disenfranchisement
- **LE** = Lack of Education
- **PF** = Psychosocial Factors
- **EI** = External Influence

The coefficients (a, b, y, c, d, e, f) are weighting factors that can shift depending on the case context (e.g., lone actor vs insurgency).

Each variable is scored on a 0–10 scale, where 0 = negligible presence and 10 = extreme presence. The total raw score (0–70) is then normalized to a 100-point DTM Index:

DTM Index=Raw Score 70×100 DTM\ Index = \frac{\text{Raw Score}} {70} \times 100DTM Index=70Raw Score $\times100$

This scale allows practitioners to interpret threat levels consistently:

- 0–39 = Low Threat (structural grievances present but not converging).
- 40–59 = Moderate Threat (conditions exist but remain diffuse).
- 60–79 = High Threat (convergence of several drivers, urgent monitoring required).
- 80–100 = Critical Threat (systemic convergence, immediate risk of violence).

This structured scoring method ensures that terrorism analysis moves beyond subjective debate and toward evidence-based prediction.

3.1 Socio-Economic Status (SES)

SES captures the structural conditions of economic opportunity and deprivation. Research shows that poverty alone does not cause terrorism, but rather inequality and relative deprivation create fertile conditions for radicalization (Krueger & Malečková, 2003; Piazza, 2006).

In the DTM, SES scores high (7–10) when unemployment, inequality, or systemic corruption undermine opportunity. Scores are lower (0–3) where economic conditions are stable.

I include SES because I have consistently observed that grievances tied to perceived economic injustice often act as gateways to radicalization.

3.2 Political Instability (PI)

PI measures state fragility, weak governance, repression, or civil conflict. Numerous studies confirm that instability correlates with terrorism (Li, 2005³; Fearon & Laitin, 2003⁴).

A state experiencing coups, corruption, or civil war will score high (8–10). Stable democracies score low (0–3).

From my experience, PI is one of the most powerful amplifiers in the model: instability magnifies other vulnerabilities. For example, Iraq's instability after 2003 provided the environment that enabled ISIS to flourish.

3.3 Ideological Extremism (IE)

IE captures the intensity and rigidity of belief systems that justify violence. Whether religious, nationalist, or racial, ideology provides the moral license for killing. McCauley and Moskalenko (2008⁵) and Sageman (2004⁶) both demonstrate that ideology is a key driver in radicalization networks.

Scores of 9–10 reflect groups or individuals fully immersed in extremist doctrine. Lower scores (0–4) suggest weak ideological framing.

I have found that IE often acts as the accelerant: personal grievance becomes terrorism only when ideology reframes it as righteous violence.

3.4 Social Disenfranchisement (SD)

SD refers to exclusion from meaningful participation in society. Wiktorowicz (2005⁷) and Roy (2008⁸) demonstrate how alienation and perceived discrimination contribute to radicalization.

Scores of 8–10 indicate groups or individuals with intense experiences of marginalization (e.g., minority communities excluded from political or social participation).

From my analysis, SD explains why middle-class or educated individuals still radicalize: it is not material poverty but social exclusion that creates fertile ground for extremist recruiters.

3.5 Lack of Education (LE)

LE measures access to quality education and critical reasoning. While some terrorists are highly educated, studies confirm that poor civic and critical education correlates with susceptibility to extremist propaganda (Abadie, 2006⁹).

High scores (8–10) reflect systemic illiteracy or poor education systems. Lower scores (0–3) represent populations with robust educational institutions.

I include LE because education often acts as a protective buffer, fostering resilience against manipulation. Its absence, however, creates vulnerabilities.

3.6 Psychosocial Factors (PF)

PF covers identity crises, mental health vulnerabilities, trauma, and personal grievances. Victoroff (2005⁶) reviews how psychosocial vulnerabilities interact with extremist ideology. Borum (2011¹⁰) confirms that psychosocial stressors amplify radicalization pathways.

Scores of 9–10 indicate individuals with severe psychosocial instability. Scores of 0–3 indicate stability and integration.

I stress PF in the DTM because I have seen firsthand how alienation, unresolved trauma, or narcissistic grievance can tip individuals into violence when combined with ideology.

3.7 External Influence (EI)

EI encompasses foreign sponsorship, transnational networks, and the dissemination of propaganda—Hoffman (2006¹¹) documents how external actors amplify terrorism globally.

High scores (8–10) reflect robust external support, such as training camps, financial backers, or global propaganda. Lower scores (0–3) suggest isolation.

Based on my analysis, EI explains why local grievances can become global threats. ISIS's propaganda and Al-Qaeda's networks are examples of high EI scores that transformed local discontent into transnational terrorism.

3.8 Dynamic Weighting of Variables

The DTM is **not a static formula.** The coefficients (a, b, y, c, d, e, f) adjust based on context:

- In failed states (e.g., Somalia), PI and EI dominate.
- In Western lone-actor cases, PF, IE, and SD carry more weight.
- In **insurgency movements**, SES and PI often outweigh individual factors.

By allowing coefficients to shift, the model adapts across contexts while maintaining a **consistent 100-point scale** for comparability.

3.9 Why the DTM Model Matters

What distinguishes the DTM from traditional theories is that it converts abstract ideas into a **structured risk score**. Instead of asking whether terrorists are rational or pathological, we can measure how rational grievances (SES, PI) interact with psychological vulnerabilities (PF, SD, LE). Instead of searching for a terrorist "profile," we can evaluate trajectories based on variable convergence.

This methodology bridges the gap between academic theory and operational practice. Intelligence analysts, policymakers, and counter-terrorism professionals can use the DTM model to identify emerging threats early, assign consistent risk scores, and prioritize intervention resources.

References for Section 3

- 1. Krueger, A. B., & Malečková, J. (2003). Education, poverty, and terrorism: Is there a causal connection? *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 17(4), 119–144.
- 2. Piazza, J. A. (2006). Rooted in poverty? Terrorism, poor economic development, and social cleavages. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 18(1), 159–177.
- 3. Li, Q. (2005). Does democracy promote or reduce transnational terrorist incidents? *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 49(2), 278–297.
- 4. Fearon, J. D., & Laitin, D. D. (2003). Ethnicity, Insurgency, and Civil War. *American Political Science Review*, 97(1), 75–90.
- 5. McCauley, C., & Moskalenko, S. (2008). Mechanisms of political radicalization: Pathways toward terrorism. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 20(3), 415–433.
- 6. Victoroff, J. (2005). The mind of the terrorist: A review and critique of psychological approaches. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 49(1), 3–42.
- 7. Wiktorowicz, Q. (2005). *Radical Islam Rising: Muslim Extremism in the West*. Rowman & Littlefield.
- 8. Roy, O. (2008). *Globalized Islam: The Search for a New Ummah*. Columbia University Press.
- 9. Abadie, A. (2006). Poverty, political freedom, and the roots of terrorism. *American Economic Review*, 96(2), 50–56.
- 10. Borum, R. (2011). Radicalization into Violent Extremism: A Review of Social Science Theories. *Journal of Strategic Security*, 4(4), 7–36.
- 11. Hoffman, B. (2006). *Inside Terrorism*. Columbia University Press.

4. Case Studies and Comparative Analysis

In this chapter, I apply the DTM model to four pivotal cases: the 9/11 attacks, ISIS recruitment, lone-actor terrorism (Breivik and Tarrant), and insider threats (Nidal Hasan at Fort Hood). By

scoring each case against the DTM variables, I demonstrate how the model produces consistent and comparative threat assessments across different contexts. This chapter demonstrates the explanatory power of the DTM model in real-world scenarios.

4.1 The 9/11 Attacks (Al-Qaeda)

As I examine the September 11th attacks, I see how Al-Qaeda's operational planning aligned perfectly with the DTM model. The group exploited political instability, transnational ideological extremism, and external networks to produce the most catastrophic terrorist event of the modern era.

Variable Scoring (0–10):

- SES = 6 (many attackers were educated but motivated by relative deprivation)
- PI = 8 (regional instability, authoritarian regimes, and U.S. intervention created volatility)
- IE = 10 (rigid Salafi-jihadist ideology)
- SD = 7 (alienation from global governance and perceived humiliation of Muslims)
- LE = 3 (many were well-educated, but critical thinking was overridden by ideology)
- PF = 7 (identity crises, belonging needs, and grievance narratives)
- EI = 9 (Al-Qaeda leadership, training camps, and propaganda networks)

Raw Score = $50/70 \rightarrow DTM Index = 71/100 \rightarrow High Threat$

From my perspective, the DTM model reveals that the 9/11 hijackers were not anomalies but the **product of converging high-risk factors**. Traditional profiling failed, but DTM highlights the systemic interaction of ideology, instability, and external influence.

4.2 ISIS Recruitment (2014–2017)

The rise of ISIS demonstrated how modern terrorist organizations weaponize disenfranchisement and propaganda. Tens of thousands of recruits flowed into Syria and Iraq, many from middle-class Western backgrounds.

Variable Scoring (0–10):

- SES = 5 (some recruits came from stable backgrounds, others from stagnant economies)
- PI = 9 (collapse of governance in Iraq and Syria)
- IE = 10 (global Salafi-jihadist doctrine)
- SD = 9 (marginalization of Western Muslim youth)
- LE = 6 (varying education levels; many lacked civic or critical reasoning skills)

- PF = 8 (alienation, thrill-seeking, and trauma histories)
- EI = 10 (unprecedented online propaganda and global recruitment networks)

Raw Score = $57/70 \rightarrow DTM Index = 81/100 \rightarrow Critical Threat$

From my analysis, ISIS recruitment demonstrates the **perfect storm of high EI**, **high IE**, **and high SD**. No traditional theory—rational actor, psychological disorder, or radicalization pathway—captures this convergence as effectively as the DTM model.

4.3 Lone-Actor Terrorism (Breivik & Christchurch)

Lone actors such as Anders Breivik (Norway, 2011) and Brenton Tarrant (Christchurch, 2019) pose unique challenges. Both were highly motivated by right-wing extremist ideology and meticulously planned mass-casualty events outside formal terrorist organizations.

Breivik (2011)

- SES = 6 (middle-class, educated)
- PI = 4 (Norway is politically stable)
- IE = 10 (rigid right-wing extremism)
- SD = 9 (deep alienation from multicultural society)
- LE = 6 (educated, but reasoning compromised by ideology)
- PF = 10 (narcissism, grievance, identity crisis)
- EI = 7 (online extremist communities, manifestos)

Raw Score = $52/70 \rightarrow DTM Index = 74/100 \rightarrow High Threat$

Tarrant (2019)

- SES = 7 (financially stable via inheritance)
- PI = 4 (New Zealand stable)
- IE = 10 (white supremacist ideology)
- SD = 8 (felt excluded from demographic changes)
- LE = 6 (adequate education, but radicalized online)
- PF = 10 (identity crisis, grievance fixation, obsession)
- EI = 9 (online extremist manifestos, global white nationalist propaganda)

Raw Score = $55/70 \rightarrow DTM$ Index = $79/100 \rightarrow High$ Threat (borderline Critical)

In both cases, **PF**, **IE**, **and SD** drive the risk score into the high category, despite a low PI. This is why lone actors are often underestimated: traditional frameworks emphasize political instability, but DTM shows that **psychosocial and ideological convergence** can substitute for state fragility.

4.4 Insider Threat (Nidal Hasan, Fort Hood, 2009)

Insider threats demonstrate how radicalization can infiltrate trusted institutions. Major Nidal Hasan, a U.S. Army psychiatrist, killed 13 soldiers at Fort Hood in 2009.

Variable Scoring (0–10):

- SES = 7 (educated professional, financially stable)
- PI = 6 (grievances over U.S. wars shaped instability perception)
- IE = 9 (inspired by Anwar al-Awlaki's extremist teachings)
- SD = 8 (felt alienated within the U.S. military)
- LE = 4 (highly educated, but reasoning compromised by ideology)
- PF = 9 (identity conflict, psychosocial stress, grievance)
- EI = 9 (direct influence of al-Awlaki propaganda)

Raw Score = $52/70 \rightarrow DTM$ Index = $74/100 \rightarrow High$ Threat

From my perspective, Hasan's case illustrates why the DTM model excels where profiling falls short. On paper, Hasan fit no terrorist profile: he was educated, employed, and respected. However, his **high SD, IE, PF, and EI** converged into a lethal outcome.

4.5 Comparative Table of DTM Case Scores

Case Study	SES	PI	IE	SD	LE	PF	EI	Raw / 70	DTM Index (100)	Threat Level
9/11 (Al-Qaeda)	6	8	10	7	3	7	9	50	71/100	High
ISIS Recruitment	5	9	10	9	6	8	10	57	81/100	Critical
Breivik (Norway,	6	4	10	9	6	10	7	52	74/100	High
2011)										
Tarrant (NZ,	7	4	10	8	6	10	9	55	79/100	High /
2019)										Critical
Hasan (Fort	7	6	9	8	4	9	9	52	74/100	High
Hood, 2009)										

Section 4 Summary

By applying the DTM model across these diverse cases, I demonstrate how it explains terrorism not as an anomaly but as the **structured convergence of interacting variables**.

• $9/11 \rightarrow$ driven by instability, ideology, and external influence.

- **ISIS** → critical convergence of disenfranchisement, propaganda, and collapsed governance.
- Lone actors → high psychosocial and ideological vulnerability, even in stable states.
- **Insider threats** → disguised stability masking severe internal vulnerabilities.

Unlike traditional profiling or rational-pathology debates, the DTM model produces **consistent**, **comparable**, **and predictive scores**. On a 100-point scale, threat levels become immediately interpretable for scholars and policymakers.

5. Discussion: How the DTM Model Resolves the Five Core Challenges

This chapter connects the case study findings back to the five challenges outlined in Chapter 2. I demonstrate how the DTM model resolves definitional ambiguity, integrates rational and psychological perspectives, avoids profiling pitfalls, unifies categories of violent actors, and provides practical diagnostic tools. I also include my personal reflections on the "noise" within terrorism studies and the "them versus us" attitudes I have witnessed in academic reviews, contrasting theory with the demands of operations.

When I began developing the DTM model, my goal was not only to provide a predictive framework but also to address the long-standing challenges that have created significant noise in the field of terrorism psychology. The case studies of 9/11, ISIS recruitment, lone-actor terrorism, and insider threats demonstrate that the DTM is not just theoretical—it works across contexts. In this section, I connect those findings back to the five challenges I outlined earlier and explain how the model offers a way forward.

5.1 Resolving Definitional Ambiguity

The definitional debate—whether terrorism includes only attacks on civilians or also combatants—has paralyzed scholarship for decades. In practice, however, the DTM model bypasses this ambiguity. By scoring risk based on **structural and behavioral indicators** (SES, PI, IE, SD, LE, PF, EI), I no longer need to classify an event strictly as "terrorism" or "insurgency."

Take 9/11: the DTM Index of **71/100** reflects high systemic risk regardless of definitional disputes. The same framework applies to Breivik (74/100) and ISIS recruitment (81/100). The **comparability of scores** across ideologies, targets, and contexts proves that we do not need to waste time on semantics when assessing risk.

In short, the DTM dissolves definitional ambiguity by shifting focus from *labels* to *measurable* drivers.

5.2 Bridging Divergent Views on Terrorist Psychology

The rational vs. pathological debate has consumed the field. Some argue that terrorists are strategic actors, others that they are psychologically disordered. In truth, my case studies demonstrate that both can be correct—depending on the interaction of variables.

- **9/11 hijackers** scored high on rational factors (PI, EI, IE) but moderate on psychosocial factors (PF).
- Lone actors like Breivik and Tarrant scored extremely high on psychosocial factors (PF = 10) and disenfranchisement (SD = 8–9), but low on political instability (PI = 4).

Traditional frameworks force us to pick sides. The DTM model integrates both perspectives. Rational grievances and psychological vulnerabilities are not mutually exclusive—they are **interacting with variables** that can be weighted according to context. This resolves a 40-year-old stalemate in the field of terrorism psychology.

5.3 Moving Beyond Profiling

Profiling has failed because it seeks a universal terrorist personality. The DTM model avoids that trap. Instead of searching for a "type," I measure **trajectories into violence** by scoring variable convergence.

The Fort Hood insider threat (DTM Index = 74/100) illustrates this clearly. Nidal Hasan did not fit a terrorist profile—he was educated, professional, and socially integrated on paper. However, his **high scores in IE**, **SD**, **PF**, **and EI** exposed his path to violence. DTM captured what profiling missed.

Thus, the model resolves the profiling challenge by replacing stereotypes with structured, comparative scoring.

5.4 Integrating Related Violent Actor Categories

One of my strongest convictions is that terrorism cannot be studied in isolation. Lone actors, active shooters, workplace attackers, and insider threats all share commonalities in their dynamics. Traditional approaches silo these categories. The DTM unites them.

For example, Breivik (74/100) and Tarrant (79/100) shared similar risk patterns with those of ISIS recruits (81/100), despite holding different ideologies. PF, SD, and IE scored high across these cases, proving that **grievance-driven shooters and jihadist recruits emerge from similar trajectories**.

By using the same variables across categories, the DTM ensures that **no violent actor is studied in a vacuum.** This comparative continuity is what terrorism psychology has been missing.

5.5 Providing Practical Diagnostic Tools

The fifth challenge—the absence of operational tools—is the most important to me. Practitioners need usable systems, not abstract theory. The DTM model provides precisely that.

By producing a 100-point threat index, practitioners can:

- Assign scores to individuals or groups.
- Compare across cases regardless of ideology or geography.
- Set intervention thresholds (e.g., >75 requires immediate monitoring).
- Track change over time, as variable scores shift.

In my case studies, this produced clear, actionable outputs:

- ISIS recruitment scored Critical (81/100).
- Lone actors scored **High (74–79/100)**.
- Insider threats like Hasan scored **High (74/100)**.

These scores are not abstract; they inform practitioners on where to allocate resources, when to escalate surveillance, and how to prioritize interventions.

By turning variables into diagnostics, the DTM model finally bridges the gap between scholarship and counter-terrorism practice.

Section 5 Summary

The DTM model resolves the five core challenges in terrorism psychology:

- 1. **Definitional ambiguity** \rightarrow replaced with indicator-based scoring.
- 2. Rational vs. pathological debate \rightarrow integrated as interacting variables.
- 3. **Profiling failures** → avoided through trajectory-based scoring.
- 4. **Neglect of related actors** → unified under a comparative continuum.
- 5. Lack of tools \rightarrow solved by the 100-point DTM Index.

This is the breakthrough: we can finally move beyond decades of repetitive disputes and toward a structured, predictive, and operationally sound framework.

6. Policy and Research Implications

In this chapter, I move from theory to application. I outline how governments can use the DTM model for prevention, prioritization, and international cooperation; how academics can use it for comparative, standardized, and AI-integrated research; and how practitioners can apply it as a diagnostic tool in the field. I also discuss ethical safeguards to ensure that the model is used responsibly. This chapter shows how the DTM can transform policy, research, and practice.

As both a scholar and a practitioner, the value of any model lies not only in its theoretical elegance but in its **utility for decision-making**. The Dynamic Threat Mitigation (DTM) model is designed to bridge that gap. Having demonstrated how the DTM resolves long-standing debates and produces consistent threat scores, I now turn to its implications for policy, research, and practice.

6.1 Government Policy Implications

For governments, the DTM provides a structured framework that can reshape counter-terrorism strategy at multiple levels:

1. Early Warning and Prevention Systems

Governments often operate reactively—responding after an attack. The DTM enables **proactive intervention**. By applying the 100-point index across individuals, groups, and regions, security services can identify convergence patterns that precede violence. A cluster of communities with high scores in SES, PI, and SD could trigger investment in economic development or community engagement programs long before radicalization reaches a critical stage.

2. Resource Allocation and Prioritization

Security agencies have limited resources. The DTM Index provides a **comparative scale** to prioritize monitoring. A case scoring 81/100 (ISIS recruitment) clearly demands more urgent resources than one scoring 45/100. By quantifying threats, the DTM helps governments allocate budgets, conduct intelligence collection, and deploy policing resources with greater precision.

3. Policy Harmonization Across Agencies

One of the most significant policy challenges I have witnessed is that different agencies (intelligence, police, military, social services) often work from **different threat frameworks**. The DTM provides a **common language of risk**. Whether one is a social worker or an intelligence analyst, a score of 74/100 communicates urgency. This harmonization reduces fragmentation and ensures agencies work toward the exact thresholds of action.

4. International Cooperation

Terrorism is transnational. The DTM's 100-point index allows for **cross-national comparability**. A threat actor in Europe and one in Africa can be assessed using the same scoring system, enabling more effective intelligence sharing and collaboration. For example, Europol, Interpol, and the UN could adopt DTM thresholds to streamline multinational counterterrorism strategies.

6.2 Academic Research Implications

For academia, the DTM model reframes terrorism psychology in three critical ways:

1. Moving Beyond Definitional Stalemates

Instead of producing yet another definitional debate, researchers can now study **the interactions between variables**. For example, how does high SD interact with low SES in lone-actor cases? What happens when EI is high, but PF is low? These comparative questions are more fruitful than semantic disputes.

2. Comparative and Cross-Domain Analysis

The DTM unites terrorism, lone-actor violence, and insider threats under a single analytic umbrella. Scholars can now compare across domains without fear of definitional contamination. This opens the door to **integrated studies of violence** that enrich both terrorism research and criminology.

3. Data Standardization and Replication

One of the weaknesses in terrorism studies is the inconsistent coding of data. By operationalizing seven variables on a 0–10 scale, the DTM facilitates replicable and **standardized research**. Scholars can apply the same framework to datasets like the Global Terrorism Database (GTD) or Europol's TE-SAT, producing comparable results across time and geography.

4. Pathway for Quantitative and AI Integration

Because the DTM is numerically structured, it integrates naturally with **machine learning and AI systems.** Researchers can train predictive models on DTM scores, enabling advanced forecasting of terrorism risk. This moves terrorism psychology firmly into the realm of **computational social science**.

6.3 Practitioner and Field Implications

For practitioners—intelligence analysts, police officers, military planners—the DTM is immediately actionable.

1. Structured Threat Assessments

Practitioners can apply the DTM variables to individuals or groups under investigation. A lone actor with IE = 9, PF = 10, and SD = 9 can be flagged as **high risk (75–100)**, triggering escalation protocols. This replaces intuition with structured analysis.

2. Diagnostic Checklists and Tables

The DTM can be operationalized into **checklists**:

- Does the subject show evidence of social disenfranchisement? (0–10)
- Is ideological extremism present? (0–10)
- Is there external influence via propaganda or sponsorship? (0–10)

By scoring each, analysts generate a quantifiable threat index. This is the structured tool that Borum (2011) and others called for but did not produce.

3. Comparative Case Management

Agencies often track dozens of subjects of concern. The DTM enables **comparative ranking**. An individual scoring 45/100 can be monitored at a lower intensity than one scoring 82/100. This improves efficiency and ensures that resources are allocated to the most critical cases.

4. Training and Education

The DTM also has implications for training. Security professionals can be taught to score cases consistently, reducing the subjectivity that often clouds counter-terrorism assessments. The Global Counter-Terrorism Institute has already integrated this training into its academic programs, preparing students to bridge the gap between theory and practice.

6.4 Ethical and Policy Safeguards

As I advocate for the adoption of the DTM, I recognize the ethical implications. Any risk assessment tool can be misused. Therefore, I recommend safeguards:

- **Transparency:** The model's variables and scoring must be publicly available and open to academic scrutiny.
- **Oversight:** Governments should establish oversight mechanisms to prevent discriminatory use of DTM scores.

• **Non-Criminal Applications:** The DTM should be used not only for surveillance but also for **preventive interventions**—such as education, mental health support, or social integration programs.

The DTM is most effective when it guides prevention, rather than punishment.

Section 6 Summary

The policy and research implications of the DTM model are profound:

- Governments can use it for early warning, resource allocation, inter-agency harmonization, and international cooperation.
- Academia can use it to move beyond debates, produce standardized data, and integrate with AI systems.
- Practitioners can use it as a diagnostic checklist, comparative ranking tool, and training framework.

Most importantly, the DTM transforms terrorism psychology from a fragmented, noisy field into a **predictive science with actionable outputs**.

7. Conclusion

The final chapter summarizes the article's central arguments and reaffirms the value of the DTM model as a framework that moves terrorism psychology beyond noise. I revisit the case studies, restate the ways the DTM resolves the five challenges, and emphasize its dual role as both a scholarly and operational tool. Finally, I offer a call to action: we must adopt structured, predictive models like the DTM if we are to prevent terrorism rather than merely respond to it.

For decades, the psychology of terrorism has been mired in recurring disputes. Scholars continue to argue over definitions, debate whether terrorists are rational or pathological, attempt to construct elusive profiles, isolate terrorism from related violent actors, and lament the absence of practical diagnostic tools. These debates have generated more heat than light. They have produced what I call **noise**—a cycle of repetition that frustrates both scholars and practitioners, leaving us without the clarity we urgently need.

The **Dynamic Threat Mitigation (DTM) model** was developed to address this issue. By integrating socio-economic, political, ideological, psychosocial, and external variables into a structured analytic framework, the DTM moves the field beyond debate and into diagnosis. It replaces definitional stalemates with measurable indicators. It integrates rational and psychological perspectives, rather than forcing a binary. It avoids the false promise of profiling by focusing on trajectories and converging variables. It unifies terrorism, lone-actor violence,

and insider threats under a single continuum of analysis. Moreover, it provides the 100-point DTM Index—an operational tool that translates theory into practice.

Threat), showing how instability, ideology, and external influence converged into catastrophic violence. ISIS recruitment scored 81/100 (Critical Threat), proving how disenfranchisement, propaganda, and collapsed governance produced an unprecedented wave of foreign fighters. Lone actors such as Breivik (74/100) and Tarrant (79/100) revealed how psychosocial vulnerabilities and ideology can produce high-threat outcomes even in politically stable societies. Insider threats like Nidal Hasan (74/100) illustrated how radicalization can infiltrate institutions under the guise of normalcy.

Across all these cases, the DTM provided clarity where traditional approaches faltered. No definitional debate could have captured these risks. No profiling schema would have predicted them. Only by scoring the interaction of variables can we see the pathways that lead to violence.

As a scholar-practitioner, I believe this is the future of terrorism psychology: structured, comparative, predictive, and operational. The DTM model is not just a theoretical innovation; it is a **practical solution**. Governments can use it to prioritize resources and anticipate threats. Academics can use it to generate standardized, replicable research. Practitioners can utilize it as a diagnostic tool to assess individuals, groups, and communities in real-time.

I am also mindful of the ethical responsibility that comes with such a model. A predictive tool must be transparent, subject to oversight, and used not only for surveillance but also for prevention and intervention. The DTM should guide not just counter-terrorism operations but also social policies that address disenfranchisement, improve education, and provide psychosocial support. Its most excellent power lies not in predicting attacks, but in preventing them.

In conclusion, the DTM model provides what terrorism psychology has long lacked: a framework that cuts through the noise. It is my conviction that if we embrace this model, we can transform terrorism studies from a fragmented field into a unified discipline, one that produces actionable intelligence before violence occurs.

I offer the DTM not only as a contribution to scholarship but as a call to action. The threats we face are real, complex, and evolving. We can no longer afford to waste time on endless debates. We need tools that work. The Dynamic Threat Mitigation model is such a tool—and it is ready to be applied.

Copyright and Intellectual Property Statement

© 2024 Todd M. Price MBA, Ph.D.(f), Paris Graduate School & Global Counter-Terrorism Institute.

All rights reserved.

The **Dynamic Threat Mitigation (DTM) Model**, including its mathematical formulation, analytic framework, and application across case studies, is the original intellectual property of **Todd M. Price, MBA, Ph.D.(f)**. The model is **pending patent with the United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) under its formal designation as a predictive analytics** system for terrorism and political violence.

No part of this article, including the DTM model, may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, adapted, or transmitted in any form—electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise—without prior written permission of the author.

Academic use: Permission is granted for scholarly citation, classroom use, and peer-reviewed research, provided that full attribution is given to:

Price, T. M. (2024). The Dynamic Threat Mitigation (DTM) Model: Predictive Analysis for Terrorism and Political Violence. Paris Graduate School & Global Counter-Terrorism Institute.

Commercial and operational use: The DTM model may not be replicated, adapted, or implemented for commercial, government, or operational purposes without express written authorization from the author.